IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

YAMENIA WILSON

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.2009-CC-00358

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY AND WALMART # 2717

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF

GLENDA F. FUNCHESS
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
MISSISSIPPI CENTER FOR LEGAL SERVICES
P.O. DRAWER 1728
HATTIESBURG, MS 39403-1728
(601) 545-2950

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

YAMENIA WILSON

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.2009-CC-00358

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY AND WALMART # 2717

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
(i) Nature of case2 (ii) Course of Proceeding and
disposition in court below2-3 (iii) Statement of Facts3-8
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT8-9
ARGUMENT9-10
ISSUE I: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPEAL FILED BY EMPLOYER, WALMART #2717 WAS TIMELY10-16
ISSUE II: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT EMPLOYER, WALMART #2717 PRESENTED SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WHICH SUPPORTED THE REVERSAL OF THE CLAIMS EXAMINER DECISION GRANTING APPELLANT YAMENIA WILSON UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS?
ISSUE III: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT REMANDING THE CASE BACK TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE FOR HEARING?
CONCLUSION21-22
ADDENDUM
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE23
OTHED VILLHUBILIES.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPEAL FILED BY EMPLOYER, WALMART #2717 WAS TIMELY?
- (2) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT EMPLOYER, WALMART #2717 PRESENTED SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WHICH SUPPORTED THE REVERSAL OF THE CLAIMS EXAMINER DECISION GRANTING APPELLANT YAMENIA WILSON UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS?
- (3) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT REMANDING THE CASE BACK TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE FOR HEARING?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case

This case involves an appeal from a decision rendered by the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi which affirmed the denial of unemployment benefits by Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review.

Course of Proceeding and Disposition in Court and Administrative Hearing Below:

This case is before this Court on an appeal filed by Appellant Yamenia Wilson from a decision from the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi. Appellant Yamenia Wilson filed for unemployment benefits after she was terminated from her job at Walmart #2717. A hearing was scheduled before Administrative Law Judge Gary L. Holmes, Jr. for August 8, 2007. Prior to hearing, Appellant Yamenia Wilson's representative submitted the required contact number. Appellant Yamenia Wilson, her witness, Jewel Revies, and her Representative were present and available at the telephone contact number submitted for said hearing.

Appellant did not receive the telephone call at the scheduled time which was 10:00 a.m. The Administrative Law Judge conducted the unemployment hearing without Appellant. On August 8, 2007, Appellant's Representative filed a request with the Administrative Law Judge, Gary L. Holmes, Jr. for a rehearing. Administrative Law Judge Gary L. Holmes, Jr. did not respond to Appellant's Representative's request for a rehearing. Rather, he rendered a decision reversing the decision of the Claims

Examiner. In reversing the Claims Examiner's decision, the Administrative Law Judge found that Appellant Yamenia Wilson was not entitled to unemployment benefits.

Aggrieved by the decision of the Administrative Law Judge, Appellant Yamenia Wilson filed an appeal to Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Office of the Board of Review. Appellant Yamenia Wilson filed her appeal to the Board of Review with a letter brief. Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review acknowledged receipt of said appeal by letter dated August 24, 2007.

On September 20, 2007, Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review affirmed the decision of the Administrative Law Judge reversing the Claims Examiner's decision awarding Plaintiff unemployment benefits. Appellant Wilson timely filed an appeal of Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Office of the Board of Review's decision denying her unemployment benefits to the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi. It is from this decision that Appellant Yamenia Wilson appeals to this Honorable Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Yamenia Wilson last held the position of door greeter with Walmart #2717. Appellant Wilson had been employed with Walmart #2717 for approximately one and one-half (1 ½) years. She was terminated by Walmart #2717 on or about May 31, 2007. Appellant Yamenia Wilson was informed that she was being terminated for failing to place stickers on the children and items to be returned. However, Employer Walmart #2717 stated that client was being discharged for failing to perform her job duties and was discharged in compliance with the company's policy. Appellant Wilson

filed for unemployment benefits and was awarded same by the Claims Examiner.

The decision of the Claims Examiner was appealed by Employer Walmart #2717. Said appeal was stamped filed July 2, 2007. Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security appealed the decision of the Claims Examiner. A hearing was scheduled before Administrative Law Judge Gary L. Holmes, Jr. on August 8, 2007. Appellant Wilson's Representative provided a telephone contact number to Administrative Law Judge Gary L. Holmes, Jr. for her hearing. After the call was not received by 10:00 a.m., Appellant Wilson's Representative telephoned Administrative Law Judge Gary L. Holmes, Jr.'s office and inquired about the hearing. The Appellant Wilson's Representative was told by the Administrative Law Judge's assistant that he was simply running behind on his hearings. After Appellant Wilson had not been contacted within one (1) hour of the 10:00 a.m hearing time, she again contacted Administrative Law Judge Gary L. Holmes, Jr.'s office. Appellant Wilson's Representative was advised that the hearing had been conducted.

Appellant Wilson immediately filed a request for a rehearing. Without acknowledging Appellant Wilson's Representative's request for a rehearing,

Administrative Law Judge Gary L. Holmes, Jr. reversed the Claims Examiner's award of unemployment benefits for Appellant Yamenia Wilson. In his decision, Appellant Wilson was advised that she may filed an appeal within fourteen (14) days to Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review. An appeal was filed with Appellee Mississippi Department Employment Security Board of Review.

Appellee Mississippi Department Employment Security Board of Review adopted the

findings of the Administrative Law Judge.

FACTS

Appellant Yamenia Wilson was employed with Walmart #2717 in Hattiesburg, Mississippi from October 24, 2005 until on or about May 31, 2007. (T.1,11-12) During her tenure with Walmart #2717, Appellant Yamenia Wilson worked in two (2) different positions, first as a cashier and lastly as a door greeter. (T.1,3,12-13,16-18)

According to Employer Walmart #2717, Appellant Wilson was terminated on or about June 1, 2007, because she was talking to a person\customer for more than ten (10) minutes. Employer Walmart #2717 stated that by talking to person ten (10) or more minutes, Appellant Wilson could not have been performing her job because she was unable to pay "...attention to customers." (T.16-17) Appellant Yamenia Wilson filed for unemployment benefits on June 4, 2007. (T.1,3)

Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security conducted an interview with Appellant Yamenia Wilson on June 4, 2007. Appellant Wilson informed the representative of Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security that she was advised that she was being terminated because she was "...accused of not putting stickers on return items at the door as people came in and not putting smiley faces on the children that came in." Appellant Wilson said this was not true. Appellant Wilson stated that she was never given any warnings or coachings regarding the above infraction or any other infraction. According to Appellant Wilson, "...she was discharged the same day she was told about the problem." (T.3)

Walmart #2717, when contacted by a representative from Appellee Mississippi

Department of Employment Security, "...refused to give separation information." (T.3) Based upon Walmart #2717's refusal to provide Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security with information related to Appellee Yamenia Wilson's reason for separation from work, the Claims Examiner awarded Appellant Wilson unemployment benefits on June 14, 2007. (T.3,5) In its notice of award of benefits to Appellant Wilson, from Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security, Walmart #2717 was advised that "[i]f you wish to protest this decision, you may ask for reconsideration or file a Notice of Appeal within **fourteen (14) calender days** {emphasis} of the mail date on the decision." (T.5)

Employer Walmart #2717, by and through its "...duly authorized agent..."

TALX, filed an appeal which was dated June 28, 2007 but not stamped received by

Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security until July 2, 2007. (T.6) The

Administrative Law Judge, Gary L. Holmes, Jr., scheduled a hearing based upon

Walmart #2717 appealed for August 8, 2007 at 10:00 a.m. (T. 7) The hearing was held

on the scheduled day, after the 10:00 a.m. time period. Appellant Yamenia Wilson,

her witness nor representative participated in the hearing. (T.9, 21-24,26-27) Appellant

Yamenia Wilson's representative telephoned Administrative Law Judge Gary L.

Holmes, Jr., because a call had not come into the call center at 10:00 a.m. According to
the Appellant Yamenia Wilson's Representative, an assistant of Administrative Law

Judge Gary L. Holmes, Jr. advised her that the Judge was running behind scheduled and
would contact her for her hearing.

Appellant Yamenia Wilson's Representative stated that after about an one (1)

hour, she again contacted Administrative Law Judge Gary L. Holmes, Jr.'s assistant and was advised that the hearing had been conducted with the representative from Walmart #2717, Salenta Patrice Vaughn. (T.9-11, 24). By letter dated August 8, 2007, which was the same date of the hearing, Appellant Yamenia Wilson's representative requested rehearing. (T.24)

Administrative Gary L. Holmes, Jr., on August 8, 2007, failed to respond to Appellant Wilson's request for a rehearing. Rather, he rendered his decision reversing the decision of the Claims Examiner who awarded Appellant Yamenia Wilson unemployment benefits. (T.21-23) On August 16, 2008, Appellant Yamenia Wilson filed an appeal to Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review, with a letter brief, wherein she again requested a rehearing. (T.28) Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review acknowledged receipt of Appellant Yamenia Wilson's appeal by letter dated August 24, 2007. (T.28)

On September 20, 2007, Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review affirmed the decision of the Administrative Law Judge, Gary L. Holmes, Jr. (T.29) Appellant Yamenia Wilson aggrieved by the decision of the Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review filed an appeal to the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi. The Circuit Court of Forrest County found that the appeal of Employer Walmart #2717 was timely and that there was substantial evidence to support the termination of Appellant Yamenia Wilson. It is from the decision of the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi that Appellant Yamenia Wilson files her appeal to this Honorable Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This case is a simple one. The major issue to be decided in this case is whether an appeal from a decision of the Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security not received within the prescribed time frame of fourteen (14) days must be dismissed as jurisdictional. Appellant Wilson's position regarding same is established by statute and codified in law, is jurisdictional. Appellant Wilson's position has been argued by Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security in a case at the Supreme Court when it dismissed an appeal as untimely. Appellee Wilson argues that if an appeal is not timely filed with Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security, said agency loses jurisdiction of the matter and is unable to hold subsequent appeal hearings..

As to the issue of misconduct, Appellant Wilson argues that there was insufficient proof submitted by Employer Walmart #2717 that Appellant Wilson committed any act that could be construed as misconduct within the meaning of the statute or case law. The burden of proof for such a finding is on the employer.

Lastly, Appellant Wilson, her representative and witness were available on the date and time of her hearing. The hearing was scheduled to begin at 10:00 a.m. When the parties failed to received a telephone call from the Administrative Law Judge shortly after 10:00 a.m., Appellant Wilson's Representative contacted the Administrative Law Judge's Office. The parties were told that the Administrative Law Judge was simply running behind on his hearings. Appellant Wilson and her party waited for one (1) hour before placing another call the to Administrative Law Judge's Office. It was at this

time, they were informed that the hearing had taken placed without Appellant Wilson.

Appellant Wilson had complied with all requirements of Appellee Mississippi

Department of Employment Security to ensure that she was available for her hearing.

Appellant's Representative immediately wrote the Administrative Law Judge requesting a rehearing. Rather than responding to Appellant's request for a rehearing, the Administrative Law Judge simply rendered a decision reversing Appellant award for unemployment benefits.

ARGUMENTS AND LAW

INTRODUCTION

The standard for review of administrative agency's decision by the courts has been established by Supreme Court as:

An agency's conclusions must remain undisturbed unless the agency's order 1) is not supported by substantial evidence, 2) is arbitrary or capricious, 3) is beyond the scope or power granted to the agency, or violates one's constitutional rights. Sprouse v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 639 So. 2d 901, 901 (Miss.1994)

See also Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality v. Chickasaw County

Board of Supervisors, 621 So. 2d 1211 (Miss.1993); Mississippi Employment Security

Commission v. PDN, Inc., 586 So. 2d 838 (Miss.1991) The court, in the case of

Farrish Gravel Co., Inc. v. Mississippi State Highway Commission, 458 So. 2d 1066,

1068 (Miss.1984) stated that [i]f an administrative agency exercises power that is not expressly granted or necessarily implied, then the agency's decision is void.

In this case, Appellant Yamenia Wilson, is of the opinion that Appellee

Mississippi Department of Employment Security should have dismissed the appeal, filed by the Employer, Walmart #2717, as untimely. Further, that the evidence presented at the hearing conducted by Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security was insufficient to support a finding that Appellant Wilson was guilty of misconduct.

ISSUES

I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPEAL FILED BY EMPLOYER, WALMART #2717 WAS TIMELY?

Appellant Yamenia Wilson challenged the timeliness of the appeal filed by Employer Walmart # 2717. Employer Walmart #2717 appeal was mailed on June 28, 2007 and was stamped filed received by Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security on July 2, 2007. The decision of the Circuit Court Judge found that said appeal was timely. His holding reads as follows:

Wilson questions whether the appeal filed by Wal-mart #2717 should have been dismissed by the Department as untimely. The Employer's appeal was postmarked on June 28, 2007 and it is standard practice of the Department to use the postmark date in determining the timeliness of an appeal. Therefore, the appeal was timely and any decisions rendered after the expiration of the appeal is proper. (R.92-93)

In its brief on the issue of the timeliness of the appeal, Appellee Mississippi Department of Mississippi Employment Security stated that "[I]t is also the contention of MDES that the appeal filed by Employer was timely in accordance with department practice." It is from this statement in Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security's Summary of Argument that the Circuit Court Judge rendered his decision.

(R.60,65)

The decision of the Circuit Court Judge and argument advanced by Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security is against not only the statute, case law but Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security's own stated policy.

Appellee Mississippi Department Employment Security's Notice to Employer of Claims Determination states in part:

If you wish to protest this decision, you may ask for reconsideration or file a Notice of Appeal within **fourteen (14) calender days** of the mail date on the decision. Holidays and weekends **will not** extend the time for filing the appeal. (T.5)

Emphasis was added by Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security.

Section 71-5-517 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended states that "[t]he claimant or any party to the initial determination or amended initial determination may file an appeal from such initial determination or amended initial determination within fourteen (14) days after notification thereof, or after the date such notification was sent to his last known address."

The evidence in this case establishes that Employer Walmart #2717 appeal was not received by Appellee Mississippi Department of Employment Security until July 2, 2007. This is the date that is stamped on the request for appeal by Appellee Mississippi Department of Security. However, Administrative Law Judge, Gary L. Holmes, Jr. stated in his opening remarks, at Appellant Wilson's hearing, that the appeal by Employer Walmart #2717 was filed on June 28, 2007. This is in direct contradiction of the facts. The appeal was mailed on June 28, 2007. (T.6,11,21)

The Supreme Court has held in a line of cases that the fourteen (14) days set forth by statute must be strictly construed. In the case of Wilkerson vs. Mississippi

Department of Employment Security Commission, 630 So. 2d 1000, 1001-1002,

(Miss.1994), Anderson Tully, the employer, had received notification of an award of benefits to Sammy Wilkerson on January 18, 1990. Anderson Tully did not file its appeal until the fifteenth (15th) day being, February 2, 1990. The court held that "[t]he Mississippi Employment Security Commission is an administrative agency created by statute which has 'only such powers as are expressly granted to [it] or necessarily implied to [its] grant of authority." Citing section 71-5-517, of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, the court held that '[t]he claimant or any party to the initial determination or amended initial determination may file an appeal from such determination within fourteen (14) days after notification thereof or after the date such notification was mailed to his last known address."

In the case of Holt v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 724 So. 2d 466,468 (Miss. 1998), the court, citing the Wilkerson case, stated that "[i]n the absence of a rule, and none existed then nor now, the strict fourteen-day requirement applied.

Interestingly enough, the Court of Appeals of Mississippi in the case styled Mississippi Employment Security Commission v. Parker, 905 So. 2d 613, 616 (Miss.2004), held that Rule 6 of the Mississippi rules of Civil Procedures was applicable and that three (3) days should be added to the prescribed period, being fourteen (14) days after the notification was mailed to the party last address. The Supreme Court, upon Writ of Certiorari filed by Appellee Mississippi Employment Security Commission, reversed

the Court of Appeals reaffirming its earlier decisions, which held that the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedures were not applicable to administrative hearings. The Court expressly stated that

[u]nless the notification of the decision is made by means other than mailing, the fourteen-day time period to appeal to the Board of Review begins to run on the date the notice is mailed to the parties, Wilkerson v. Miss. Employment Sec. Comm'n, 630 So. 2d 100, 1002 (Miss.1994). That is, where notice of the referee's decision is sent by mail, the fourteen-day time period begins to run on the date that notice is mailed. Furthermore, while holding that an appeal filed one day late was untimely, this court stated that the fourteen day time period as set by statute is to be strictly construed. Mississippi Employment Security Commission v. Parker, 903 So. 2d 42, 44 (Miss.2005)

See also <u>Booth v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission</u>, 588 So. 2d 422 (Miss.1991)

In the case of <u>Cerrato v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission</u>, 968 So. 2d 957, 958-959 (Miss.2007), Plaintiff Tom Cerrato had filed a claim for unemployment after being terminated from his employment. The Claims Examiner denied Cerrato's claim for benefits and mailed notification of the denial of benefits to Cerrato. When Cerrato filed his notice of appeal, the Appeals Referee held a telephonic hearing on April 11, 2006 for the "...sole purpose of determining whether Cerrato's appeal was timely filed or, in the alternative, whether he had "good cause" for failing to file within the appeals period." The court held in <u>Cerrato</u> that his appeal was untimely. Citing section 71-5-517, the court stated as follows:

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