# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2009-CC-00358

YAMENIA WILSON

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY AND WALMART #2717

**DEFENDANT/APPELLEES** 

# BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

# ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

LeAnne F. Brady, Esq.
Senior Attorney
Mississippi Department of
Employment Security
MS Bar No.
Post Office Box 1699
Jackson, Mississippi 39215-1699
601-321-6073 Telephone
601-321-6076 Facsimile

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2009-CC-00358

YAMENIA WILSON

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY AND WALMART #2717

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

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-513 provides for disqualifying persons from benefits otherwise eligible for acts of misconduct connected with their work. The term misconduct as used in the Mississippi Employment Security Law is defined as an act of wanton

or willful disregard of the employer's interest, a deliberate violation of the employer's rules, a disregard of the standard of behavior which an employer has the right to expect from an employee, or negligence indicating an intentional disregard of the employer's interest or of the employee's duties and obligations to the employer. Wheeler v. Arriola, 408 So. 2d 1381, 1383 (Miss. 1982). Likewise, repeated negligence of the Employer's interest may also show a pattern of misconduct on the part of the claimant. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n v. Jones, 755 So. 2d 1259, ¶10 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-513 provides that the Employer has the burden of proof to show misconduct on the part of the Claimant.

Ms. Wilson failed to participate in the hearing before the ALJ. From the record, it is clear that the ALJ attempted to contact Ms. Wilson and her representative at the number they provided and received no answer. (R. Vol. 2, p. 9). The Claimant asked for rehearing, asserting that she and her representative were available for the hearing; however, the phone call was forwarded to the wrong extension. (R. Vol. 2, p. 24). The Notice of Hearing provides that a party, "must provide the correct information including the contact person's name and the telephone number where you can be reached." (R. Vol. 2, p. 7). The ALJ clearly called the number the Claimant provided and the call was not received due to some miscommunication within the office of the Claimant's representative. It is not the responsibility of MDES to ensure that the phone call is forwarded to the correct extension. The Claimant should have made the proper arrangements to receive the call.

Moreover, pursuant to its rule-making authority, MDES has adopted Appeals Regulations 200.05, 208.00 and 209.00 which address failure to timely appear at a hearing. Miss. Code Ann. § 71-5-525 (2008). (See (R. Vol. 1, p. 68-71)). Regulation 200.05 provides that when a party fails to appear, MDES has the discretion to refuse to re-open a hearing. This also provides that

failure to appear is a default or abandonment of the appeal; and a default ruling may be entered. Thus, the issue regarding the Claimant's default is within MDES's authority to determine under Mississippi Code Annotated Sections 71-5-523 and 71-5-525 (Miss. 2008), and the regulation making authority of the Department. MDES asserts that due to the Claimant's failure to participate in the hearing, she is barred from complaining about the ALJ's decision finding for the Employer.

Moreover, the Employer met its burden of proof by submitting substantial evidence that the claimant committed disqualifying misconduct. The Claimant's behavior leading to the terminating event clearly exhibits a wanton or willful disregard for the Employer's interests. Her repeated negligence further indicates an intentional disregard of her duties and obligations to the Employer. According to the testimony of the Employer's representative, Ms. Salenta Vaughn, Ms. Wilson had been given multiple verbal warnings about her work performance by different supervisors over the course of her employment. (R. Vol. 2, p. 18). These warnings were followed by a written warning about her negligence in cash shortages and overages on March 29, 2006. (R. Vol. 2, p. 12). The third step was another written warning on January 17, 2007, for her deliberate violation of Employer's instruction not to leave the door to answer the lobby telephone. Once she did answer the telephone, she deliberately ignored the further instructions not to divulge that conversation. This improper conduct resulted in a "decision day," which gives the employee an opportunity to reflect on the behavior and draft a statement showing a plan to correct that behavior. Apparently Ms. Wilson did not turn in her statement. (R. Vol. 2, p. A "decision day" puts the employee on notice that one more violation within the year will result in termination. (R. Vol. 2, p. 15).

On or about May 31, 2007, Ms. Wilson was terminated because she blatantly ignored her supervisor's directives to watch the door, greet people, and refrain from holding extensive

conversations with customers. (R. Vol. 2, p. 17). This was a violation of the duties of her position and it occurred within a year of her "decision day."

The Claimant's argument that the ALJ and Board of Review's decision are not supported by substantial evidence is unpersuasive considering the testimony presented at the hearing before the ALJ. Moreover, the Claimant can hardly complain about the weight of the evidence when she did not participate in the hearing. The Claimant basis her argument on two cases: Williams v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission and Anderson-Tully Company, 395 So. 2d 964 (Miss. 1981), and Mickel v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 765 So. 2d 1259 (Miss. 2000).

In <u>Williams</u>, the plaintiff's unemployment benefits were denied bases on a single letter from the employer that stated the plaintiff had taken a voluntary lay off. <u>Williams</u> is easily distinguishable because the evidence offered was only one letter and the Court held that "uncorroborated hearsay is not substantial evidence." <u>Williams</u>, 935 So. 2d at 966 (emphasis added). Additionally, the Court in <u>McGowan v. Mississippi State Oil & Gas Bd.</u>, 604 So. 2d 312, 320 (Miss. 1992), stated, "[a]n administrative agency may receive hearsay evidence where it is corroborated or where there is other satisfactory indicia of reliability." In the present case, the Employer has documented warnings in their business records of Ms. Wilson's negligent pattern of behavior as well as first hand information by the Employer's representative.

In <u>Mickel</u>, the Court stated that "[s]ubstantial evidence means something more than a 'mere scintilla' of evidence" and "that is means such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." <u>Mickel v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission</u>, 765 So. 2d 1259, 1261 (Miss. 2000). For the case at bar, the Employer's representative again had first hand knowledge and documented warnings in their business

records. This is far from a minute amount of evidence; it is relevant evidence that reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support the conclusion of the ALJ.

Given the uncontested testimony of the Employer, it is clear that the Claimant's repeated, documented warnings demonstrate a negligent pattern of behavior towards the Employer's interests. This Honorable Court should affirm the decision of the Board of Review.

III. The Employer's appeal of the Notice to Employer of Claims Determination was timely.

The timeframe for filing an appeal to the Administrative Law Judge can be found at Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-517. This section states in part that the "claimant or any party to the initial determination or amended initial determination may file an appeal from such initial determination or amended initial determination within fourteen (14) days after notification thereof, or after the date such notification was sent to his last known address." The Claimant argues that the appeal filed by the Employer of the Notice to Employer of Claims Determination was untimely because it was not stamped filed by the MDES appeals department on or before the fourteenth (14th) day of the statutory deadline, which would have been June 28, 2007. However, the Employer's appeal was post-marked on June 28, 2007. (See R. Vol. 1, p. 74). It is the standard business practice of MDES to look to the postmark date in determining the timeliness of an appeal. Even though the Appeals Department did not stamp it received until July 2, 2007, the envelope clearly shows that the appeal was mailed by June 28, 2007.

A. The Claimant waived her right to argue the issue of the timeliness of the Employer's appeal from the Notice to Employer of Claims Determination when she failed to assert this claim before the Administrative Law Judge or the Board of Review.

MDES asserts that the Claimant has waived her right to argue this issue since she failed to assert it before the ALJ or the Board of Review. MDES reiterates that the Claimant did not participate in the ALJ hearing and made no argument in support of her position. Moreover, the Claimant did not argue the timeliness of the Employer's Appeal to the Board of Review. In fact,

the Claimant first argues the timeliness issue before the circuit court. This Court has "repeatedly held that an issue not raised before the lower court is deemed waived and is procedurally barred." Public Employee's Retirement System v. Freeman, 868 So. 2d 327 (Miss. 2004); (citing Davis v. State, 684 So.2d 643, 658 (Miss. 1996); Cole v. State, 525 So.2d 365, 369 (Miss. 1987). MDES asserts that since the Claimant failed to argue this issue before the ALJ or the Board of Review, it has been waived and this Honorable Court cannot consider it now.

B. MDES's policy of considering an appeal to the ALJ or Board of Review timely filed if it is postmarked by the statutory deadline is reasonable, applied equitably, is not arbitrary and therefore, the Employer's appeal should be considered timely filed.

Even if this Court finds the Claimant has not waived this issue, MDES asserts that the Employer's appeal was timely filed. The Claimant cites to the case of Wilkerson v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 630 So. 2d 1000 (Miss. 1994), as its main authority to support its position.

MDES concedes that while Wilkerson interprets the statute in question, it is distinguishable from the case at hand. In Wilkerson, the Claimant argued before the ALJ, the Board of Review and the Warren County Circuit Court that the Employer had failed to timely file its appeal.

Wilkerson, 630 So. 2d at 1000. The circuit court remanded the case back to the Board of Review for findings on the issue of timeliness. Id. The Board of Review determined that the employer's appeal was timely filed because, "[a]t the time the employer filed this appeal the Board of Review was allowing an additional mailing time of three days and had instructed Referees² to accept appeals filed within seventeen days of the date of mailing of notification by the Claim Examiner as being timely filed." Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> MDES would like the Court to note that the claimant in Wilkerson asserted that the Employer had not timely filed their appeal at every appellate level, which is not the case in the matter currently before the Court. MDES again asserts that Ms. Wilson waived her right to argue this issue when she did not appear before the ALJ or assert this claim to the Board of Review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At this time ALJ's were referred to as Appeals Referees.

The claimant again appealed to the circuit court on the issue of timeliness, and the circuit court affirmed. The claimant appealed to the Mississippi Supreme Court which found that:

Mississippi Unemployment Compensation statutory scheme does not contain a provision which gives the Commission the power to modify the statute by arbitrarily or capriciously adding three days to the time for appeal. Since the statute is clear and unambiguous, no room exists for judicial construction, and the courts are obligated to apply the clear meaning of the statute.

#### Id. at 1002.

Since the case of <u>Wilkerson</u>, MDES did away with allowing parties to an appeal an additional three (3) days for mailing the notice of appeal. Instead, MDES instituted a policy that it would consider an appeal timely filed if it was postmarked by the fourteenth (14th) day. There are four (4) main reasons for this. The first is that the statute makes it clear that the parties fourteen (14) day deadline begins to run from the date the decision is MAILED from MDES. If the parties are bound by the mail date and not the receipt date to calculate the fourteen (14) day time period, it is only equitable that the parties be allowed to mail their appeal on the fourteenth (14th) day.

Secondly, MDES receives approximately 4000 to 5000 pieces of mail at its state office a day. The mail does not always get sorted to the appropriate department on the day it is received. It may take several days for the appeals department to receive a notice of appeal. Due to this problem, the support staff in appeals must look to the postmark on the envelope to determine if a notice of appeal was filed timely.

Thirdly, of the 4000 to 5000 pieces of daily mail received at the MDES state office, approximately 70 to 100 pieces are addressed to the appeals department. This mail must be opened and sorted by support staff. While staff strives to open every piece of mail each day, this simply is not always possible. Therefore, staff must look to the postmark to determine if

something was filed timely. If the notice of appeal was postmarked to MDES on or before the fourteenth (14th) day, then the appeal is considered timely filed.

Finally, MDES instituted the postmark policy due to inconsistencies with the mail. It is feasible that a party could mail a notice of appeal to MDES three (3) days prior to the statutory deadline and it still be received after the fourteenth (14th) day. MDES does not believe a party should be procedurally barred due to an issue with the mail. Of course, an argument could be made that an individual could overnight the letter to insure that it reached MDES by the deadline; however, overnight postage is expensive. In many cases, the party appealing is an unemployed, *pro se* claimant. MDES asserts that it is not equitable to expect these individuals to have the resources available to pay for overnight mail. It is a fair and equitable policy to accept a notice of appeal as timely filed if it is postmarked by the statutory deadline.

The Claimant cites to several other cases to support her position, all of which are distinguishable from the case *sub judice*. Holt v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 724 So. 2d 466 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), addresses the issue of good cause for failing to timely file an appeal. The claimant in Holt asserted that she never received the notice of appeal from MDES and the Court considered whether or not this amounted to good cause. Holt, 724 So. 2d at 468 (¶7 and 8). The facts in Holt are entirely different from those currently before the Court. It is interesting to note; however, that Holt supports MDES's position that an appeal filed by an interested party is filed timely if it is postmarked by the statutory deadline. The Court in Holt, citing to Thames v. Smith Insurance Agency. Inc., 710 So.2d 1213, 1214 (Miss.1998), noted that proof of the sending of mail, postage prepaid to the proper address, creates a rebuttable presumption of timely delivery. Id. at 470 (¶ 20).

The Claimant also cites to <u>Mississippi Emp. Sec. Comm'n, v. Gilbert Home Health</u>

Agency, 909 So. 2d 1142 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998) and <u>Mississippi Emp. Sec. Comm'n. v Parker</u>,

903 So. 2d 42 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Gilbert dealt with an Employer's appeal to the circuit court from the Board of Review which was filed nearly two weeks after the statutory deadline. Gilbert, 909 So. 2d at 1145 (¶10). Clearly, the facts in Gilbert cannot be compared to those in the case at bar. Likewise, Parker concerned the three (3) day mail rule under Rule 6(e) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Parker, 903 So. 2d at 43 (¶2). As stated earlier, MDES no longer follows this procedure, as such this case is not relevant to the facts currently under consideration.

MDES fairly administers this policy to both claimants and employers in appeals to the ALJ and the Board of Review. Unlike the three (3) day rule in <u>Wilkerson</u> and <u>Parker</u>, it is not arbitrary nor does it have an ad hoc or sporadic application. It is a reasonable policy created to ensure that all interested parties' rights are preserved when they file an appeal to the ALJ or Board of Review via the mail. MDES asserts that the Employer's appeal was timely filed and this Court should affirm the decision of the Board of Review.

#### CONCLUSION

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